MAY 28 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 3, STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### SETH BURRILL PRODUCTIONS INC. Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

## REBEL CREEK TACKLE INC., Defendant-Appellant CASE # 32119-3-III

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT REBEL CREEK TACKLE INC.'S OPENING BRIEF

Plaintiff
Jeffrey R. Smith
LEE & HAYES, PLLC
601 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 1400
Spokane, WA 99201
509 324 9256
fax: 509 323 8979

Defendant Floyd E. Ivey IVEY Law Offices, P.S. Corp 7233 W. Deschutes Ave. Ste. C, Box #3 Kennewick, WA 99336 509 735 6622

###

#### INTRODUCTION

The principal issue of this Appeal is whether or not a word or phase in the Spokane County Superior Court Judgment of November 15, 2013 is ambiguous thereby requiring interpretation. A word and a phrase in the Judgment of November 15, 2014 revised a License Agreement provision addressing the Licensee's rights to the "use" of injection molds. The Superior Court Judgment incorporates the phrase "...transfer and/or deliver..." into the "use" provision of the License Agreement. Neither the "use", from the License Agreement, nor the "...transfer and/or deliver..." phrase from the Court Judgment is defined. (RP 4/line 1-5/line 4; continuing at 6/line 23-7/line 6). That is, there is no definition of either the "use" allowed by the License Agreement. There is no definition of the "use" modified by "...transfer and/or deliver..." found in the Superior Court Judgment.

The word "transfer" in Washington State is synonymous with "sale".

The central question raised is whether the "use" and/or the added phrase "...transfer and/or deliver..." is ambiguous or otherwise undefined necessitating interpretation. The touchstone of interpretation of contracts is the intent of the parties. In Washington, the intent of the parties to a particular agreement may be discovered not only from the actual language

of the agreement, but also from "viewing the contract as a whole, the subject matter and objective of the contract, all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the reasonableness of respective interpretations. *Berg v.Hudesman*, 115 Wash.2d 657, 663, 80) P.2d 222 (1990); *Scott Galvanizing, Inc. v. Nw. EnviroServices. Inc.*, J 20 W n .2d 573, 580, 844 P.2d 42Ji (1993).

All "...the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the reasonableness of respective interpretations..." are found in the Record on Appeal. All "...the circumstances..." are derived from the Plaintiff-Licensee's Declarations and the Plaintiff-Licensee's attorney's Memoranda, Responses to Interrogatories and Declarations arising from an Arbitration Decision of May 2013. The circumstances were presented to the Court below in Oral Argument and Memoranda.

A License Agreement dispute was arbitrated between the parties. The "use" allowed to the Licensee-Plaintiff of plastic injection molds, addressed in the License Agreement, the Arbitration Decision, the Superior Court Judgment and the Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Contempt and other Sanctions, is undefined by the words and phrases themselves.

The focus of this appeal is to determine if the License Agreement "use" of injection molds, modified by "...transfer and/or deliver..." is defined or is ambiguous. If ambiguous then definition is required. Vacova Co. v. Farrell, 814 P.2d 255, 62 Wn. App. 386,399 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1991) CP 152-53. There was no definition of "use" in the License Agreement, Arbitration Decision or by the Judge in the Court Order appealed from of November 15, 2013. Additional words/phrase were added in the Arbitration Decision and included in the Court's Order including "...in the transfer and/or delivery of said molds..." to the Respondent (CP 21, para 4). The issue of the lack of definition of the indicated words/phrases was addressed in Appellant/Defendant's November 1, 2013 motion to continue CP 146, 149-50, 152/line 25; RP 4/line 1-5/line 4. The issue was before the Superior Court again on November 15, 2013. Appellant addressed the issue in accordance with the directions provided Vacova Co. v. Farrell, 814 P.2d 255, 62 Wn. App. 386,399 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1991) holding in part "Furthermore, even if the patent ambiguities of the contract had not been reconciled by means of the rules of contract construction, the result would have been an ambiguous contract and "[i]t is axiomatic that extrinsic evidence ... is admissible to clarify such matters "CP 152/24-153/5. Extrinsic evidence of factors from Vacova, supra, was submitted only by AppellantDefendant. The Respondent-Plaintiff did not address these factors in briefing or argument. The Court did not analyze the matter of contract construction, ambiguity or need for definition.

The second principal issue is the defense allowed by definition of contract terms in Appellant/Defendant's resistance to Respondent's Motion for Contempt and terms.

Appellant seeks reversal of each of the rulings from November 15, 2013, the return of the molds to Appellant/Defendant or its designee with Respondent allowed "use" as defined in this Appeal under rules of contract construction and attorney fees based on "bad faith" of the Respondent-Plaintiff.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Assignment of Error 1. Did the Court err in failing to consider whether "transfer" is synonymous with "sale" or "convey" in Washington State and apply contract construction factors to determine "under all the circumstances" the definition of "transfer" relative to the Plaintiff's allowed use of the injections molds?

Assignment of Error 2. Did the Court err in holding Defendant in Contempt and in not finding Defendant's resistance to the Judgment the

act of protecting property and a defense to Plaintiff's Motion for Contempt and terms?

Assignment of Error 3. Did the Court make a Finding of Fact or state a Conclusion of Law by the Court's statement at RP 17/lines 7-12 and, if so, Did the Court err in not undertaking the analysis of determining the meaning of "transfer" as equivalent to "sale" in this State followed by the consideration of all the circumstances surrounding the permitted "use" of the injection molds?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Seth Burrill Production Inc is the Plaintiff-Respondent and is referred to as Plaintiff. Rebel Creek Tackle Inc is the Defendant-Appellant and is referred to as the Defendant. Seth Burrill and Allen Osborn are referenced in the Clerk's Papers in Declarations submitted in the Trial Court and at Arbitration. Seth Burrill is the owner of Seth Burrill Production Inc. Allen Osborn is a co-owner of Rebel Creek Tackle Inc.

Plaintiff was licensed by Defendant to sell Defendant's Patented and Patent Pending fishing devices CP 12-17. The fishing devices are made with plastic injection molds. Plaintiff's use of the Defendant's injection molds is stated in the License Agreement, CP 14 paragraph 5, as follows:

5. LICENSOR has paid for the manufacture of the initial prototype units and the injection molds in China. Upon receipt of the injection molds from China, LICENSEE shall have the right to the full, unrestricted use of the injection molds during the term of this AGREEMENT.

The relationship of Plaintiff and Defendant was arbitrated with an Arbitration Decision issued on May 2, 2013 CP 36-40. The decision provided in part that:

4. Claimant shall have full, unrestricted use of the injection molds during the term of the Contract, and Respondent shall cooperate in the transfer and/or delivery of said molds as requested by Claimant; CP 39;

The Arbitration Decision contained a phrase not existing in paragraph 4 of the License Agreement as follows:

"and Respondent shall cooperate in the transfer and/or delivery of said molds as requested by Claimant; CP 39

Plaintiff moved to take possession of the molds by its Motion for Contempt and Sanctions in PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR REMEDIAL SANCTIONS (CONTEMPT) AND OTHER RELIEF (CP 109) set for hearing November 1, 2014 (CP 115). Defendant's Motion for Continuance and Partial Response to Plaintiff's Motion for Contempt (CP 145) was heard on November 1, 2013 RP 10/lines 3-9. The continuance

was granted to November 15, 2013 (RP 14/lines 9-10). Defendant's goal was to have the phrase including the word "Transfer" defined, to show that resistance to the Court Order was reasonable and to have the injection molds retained in control of Defendant with Plaintiff having unrestricted use. Defendant's goal was introduced in Court on November 1, 2013 as follows:

[Attorney Ivey -I]n the order presented to the Court in its [Plaintiff's] motion for judgment, it inserted the word transfer, that is the molds would be transferred to Mr. Burrill (Plaintiff). And the word transfer is the critical factor here today. This is a word that is outside of the license agreement. It is something that comes about through the motion by Plaintiff and the order that was subsequently entered. And the word transfer then is not defined and until it is defined we would not know what the nature is of that transfer. RP 5/lines 11-22.

So I'm [attorney Ivey] asking for that brief continuance in order to complete the record in

this matter so that the term transfer can be considered by the Court, fully considered by the Court, and so a record that is more fully developed will be available should there be a need for an appeal of this case. RP 10/lines 3-9.

The Court responded as follows:

I [the Court] want to be clear with Mr. Ivey ...if you wants to give some briefing or memorandum on what transfer means then that is certainly up to you and I will give you that opportunity. RP 13/line 16-14/line 2

Defendant accepted the Court's invitation and did "...give some briefing or memorandum on what transfer means..." by Memorandum and Argument on November 15, 2013. The word "Transfer", in Washington State case law, is synonymous with "sale". CP 158

If "transfer" is synonymous with sale in this state then does the word "transfer" in the Judgment appealed from, CP 271, mean that the molds were "sold" to the Plaintiff? Is the word "transfer", in this case, defined as "sold"?

If not then what does the word "transfer" mean in the Court's

Order (CP 271)?

Plaintiff drafted and submitted the Proposed Order (CP 271) without definition of "Transfer".

But Plaintiff took a step toward limiting the word "transfer". Plaintiff admitted that there was no "sale" of the molds to Plaintiff and that ownership remains with the Defendant. This admission is found in PLAINTIFF'S REPLY TO DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM, AND ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR CONTEMPT, CP 242/lines 13-17; RP 18/line 21-24.

The admission that "Transfer" is not a "Sale" and that ownership remains in the Defendant leaves the definition of "transfer" to be decided. The opportunity, need and law to define TRANSFER remained before the Court on November 15, 2013.

Our Courts have not failed to address contract construction where ambiguity or lack of definition exists. The Defendant's briefing and argument, on November 15, 2013, specifically focused on pertinent cases regarding ambiguity with pointed argument. The Court, without elaboration regarding ambiguity, contract construction or any of the "circumstances surrounding the License Agreement", limited its comments regarding the definition of "Transfer" by the Court's conclusion stated at the outset of the November 15, 2013 hearing as follows:

[The Court states]...Fourth, the term, quote, transfer and or delivery, close quote, as used by the arbitrator and repeated in the judgment is

not ambiguous. Its plain, simple, common sense meaning is that the property is to be placed in the possession of the Plaintiff. RP 17/lines 7-12.

The Defendant's Memorandum (CP 158) addresses the issue of definition of the phrase "...transfer and/or delivery...".by considering all of the circumstances surrounding the use of the molds. Plaintiff did not address the factors to be considered in defining ambiguous contract terms.

The Defendant had resisted compliance with an Order to Transfer. Ambiguous terms are generally not recognized or realized until a demand is made. Here Plaintiff demanded that the molds be removed from the control of the Defendant and placed under the control and in the possession of the Plaintiff. Plaintiff's contended control is the control created by a "sale" or by "ownership". The Defendant contends that it's resistance to yielding the molds to such control was not an act of contempt. Defendant's resistance was an act to protect its property.

Plaintiff contends and the Judgment concludes that Defendant was willful and without objection in compliance with the Order.

Understanding "Transfer" with the guidance of our Courts will demonstrate that the resistance was a reasonable act in protection of the property residing in the molds.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review for Contract Construction

Questions of law, including the interpretation of contract provisions, are reviewed de novo. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). We apply fundamental contract construction rules when interpreting a contract and to the extent we interpret contract provisions; we apply the de novo standard of review. *Cambridge Townhomes, LLC v. Pac. Star Roofing, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 475, 487, 209 P.3d 863 (2009); *Kim v. Moffett*, 156 Wn. App. 689, 697, 234 P.3d 279 (2010).

#### **Argument – Contract Construction**

A. INVITATION: As invited by the Court in this matter, (RP 13/line 16-14/line 2), Defendant did address the Court, orally and in Memoranda, on November 1 and 15, 2013 regarding contract construction.

Contract construction is reviewed de novo.

In this case contract construction addresses not only the extent of

or limitations on the rights of the Plaintiff to the use of injection molds but also supports the Defendant's position opposing contempt. Defendant's opposition to the delivery of the molds to Plaintiff comprised its efforts to protect Defendant's property in the molds. The construction will determine the authorized use of the injection molds by the Plaintiff Licensee.

The patented fishing devices are made by plastic injection molding. The License Agreement (CP 14 paragraph 5) limits the Plaintiffs right to use of the molds with the phrase "...LICENSEE shall have the right to the full, unrestricted use of the injection molds during the term of this AGREEMENT....". The extent or nature of this "use" is not defined in the License Agreement or as revised via the Court's Order to include "...in the transfer and/or delivery of said molds... to the Plaintiff "( CP 21, para 4). That is, "use" is not defined in either the Licensee Agreement (CP 14 para 5) or in the Court's Order (CP 21, para 4).

Defendant contends that the Plaintiff's "use" revised by the "...transfer and/or deliver..." phrase is ambiguous for two reasons: First, the word "transfer" is synonymous with "sale". The Plaintiff agrees that there was no sale; and second, if not "sale" then "what" is the "use" and the meaning of "transfer"? The "what" leads to the analysis of the circumstances surrounding the relationship and the License Agreement.

State Farm General Ins. Co. v. Emerson, 687 P.2d 1139, 102 Wn.2d 477, 484 (Wash. 1984); citing Morgan v. Prudential Ins. Co., 86 Wash.2d 432, 434-435, 545 P.2d 1193 (1976).

The construction or definition of the License Agreement "use" and the "use" as revised in the Court Order by the addition of the phrase "...transfer and/or deliver..." is required by *Vacova Co.* v. *Farrell*, 814 P.2d 255, 62 Wn. App. 386,399 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1991) CP 152-53.

The issue of the lack of definition of the indicated words/phrases was addressed in Defendant's November 1, 2013 motion to continue (CP 146, 149-50, 152/line 25) and again on November 15, 2013. Defendant addressed the issue in accordance with the directions from *Vacova Co.*, *supra 399* holding in part:

"Furthermore, even if the patent ambiguities of the contract had not been reconciled by means of the rules of contract construction, the result would have been an ambiguous contract and "[i]t is axiomatic that extrinsic evidence ... is admissible to clarify such matters " CP 152/24-153/5.

Extrinsic evidence of factors from *Vacova*, supra have been submitted only by Defendant. The Plaintiff has not presented argument regarding contract construction or ambiguities. The Court did not address these factors orally from the bench or in the Order appealed from. (CP 271).

B. ARGUMENT RE: AMBITUITY OF "TRANSFER" What are the arguments supporting the contention that the phrase "...transfer and/or delivery..." is ambiguous requiring interpretation? The law was submitted to the Court at CP 159-60.

The word "transfer" is consistently synonymous with the words "sale" and "convey" in Washington State law. Plaintiff's right is only related to "USE" of the Molds. With "sale" and "transfer" synonymous in this state, the insertion of the word "transfer" comprises an ambiguity.

The law equating "sale" or "convey" to "transfer" follows commencing at CP 161:

1. "The issue posed is whether the interpretation of the statutory language

"sells or otherwise conveys, directly or indirectly" includes a *transfer* to a secured creditor of inventory in which the creditor holds a security interest." . *Martin* v. *Meier*, 111 Wash.2d 471,479, 760 P.2d 925 (1988)

2. The word "sale" is considered in *Palmer* v. *Department of Revenue*, 917 P.2d ll20, 82 Wn.App. 367, 372-75 (Wash.App. Div. 2 1996) as follows:

a. At 82 Wn.App.373 - "Sale is defined in RCW 82.04.040, in part, as follows: "Sale" means any *transfer* of

the ownership of, title to, or possession of property for a valuable consideration and includes any activity classified as a "sale at retail" or "retail sale" under RCW 82.40.050."

This definition incorporates the plain and ordinary meaning of "sell," which is a transfer or exchange of property, goods, or services to another for money or its equivalent. See Webster's New World Dictionary (3d. ed.1989) ....

In Black's Law Dictionary 333 (6th ed.1990) the word "convey" is defined as: To *transfer* to another. To pass or transmit the title to property

- b. At 82 Wn.App. 374 " ... To *transfer* property or the title to property by deed, bill of sale, or instrument under seal. Used popularly in sense of "assign", "sale", or "*transfer*."
- 3. "... the contracting party sufficiently indicates an intention to make some particular property, real or personal, or fund, therein described or identified, a security for a debt or other obligation, or whereby the party promises to convey or assign or transfer the property as security, creates an equitable lien upon the

property so indicated, which is enforceable against the property in the hands not only of the original contractor, but of his heirs, administrators, executors, voluntary assignees, and purchasers or incumbrancers with notice.' This statement of the law is in harmony with [55 P. 37] universal authority, but we do not see that it can be made applicable to appellant's interest in this case, for the statement assumes the very question which is in dispute here, viz. whether or not the party promised to conveyor assign or transfer this property as security. It is the intention of the parties to the contract which is to be determined from the phraseology of the instrument." *Hossackv. Graham*, 55 P. 36, 20 Wash. 184,188 (Wash. 1898)

- 4. Under the second alternative, the State must prove that Sant trafficked in stolen property. RCW 9A.82.050(1). To "traffic" in stolen property means to "sell, *transfer*, distribute, dispense, or otherwise dispose of stolen property to another person, or to buy, receive, possess, or obtain control of stolen property, with intent to sell, *transfer*, distribute, dispense, or otherwise dispose of the property to another person." RCW9A.82.010(19). *State* v. *Sant*, 37668-7-I1(Div. 11 2009)
  - 5. Other jurisdictions agree gift transfers or transfers

without substantial consideration inuring to the benefit of the principal violate the scope of authority conferred by a general power of attorney to sell, exchange, *transfer*, or convey property for the benefit of the principal. *E.g., Shields* v. *Shields, 200*CaLApp.2d 99, 19 Cal.Rptr. 129 (1962); *Aiello* v. *Clark,* 680 P.2d 1162 (Alaska *1984*); *Fierst* v. *Commonwealth Land Title Ins. Co.,* 499 Pa. 68. 451 A.2d 674 (*1982*); *Gaughan* v. *Nickoloff.* 28

Misc.2d 555. 214 N.Y.S.2d 487 (1961); *King* v. *Bankerd,* 303 Md. 98, 492 A.2d 608 (1985). *Bryant* v. *Bryant,* 882 P.2d 169, 125

Wn.2d 113, 118-19 (Wash. 1994).

6. The writ commanded the bank not to pay any debts to the Knapps and "not to deliver, sell, or *transfer*. or recognize any sale or of, any personal property or effects of the Defendant in your possession or control. .. " *Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v.*Northwest Paving and Canst. Co., Inc., 891 P.2d 747, 77 .Wn.App. 474, 478 (Wash..App. Div. 3 1995)

The word "transfer" is synonymous, in Washington State, with "sale" and "convey".

Plaintiff admits that there was no "sale" of the molds to Plaintiff and that ownership remains with the Defendant. (CP 242/lines 13-17).

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