COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III 
OF THE STATE WASHINGTON 

No. 321193-III 

SETH BURRILL PRODUCTIONS, INC., Respondent 

v. 

REBEL CREEK TACKLE INC., Appellant 

PLAINTIFF / RESPONDENT 

SETH BURRILL PRODUCTIONS, INC.'S 

Lee & Hayes, PLLC 
601 W Riverside Ave 
Suite 1400 
Spokane, W A 99201 
(509) 324-9256 
WSBA# 37460 

RESPONSE 

Jeffrey R. Smith, 
Attorneys for Respondent 



CONTENTS 

I. 1 

A. Intentionally Disobeyed Argument. ........................................... 1 

B. No Abuse of Discretion Argument 

C. Collateral Bar Argument. ........................................................... 2 

D. Tenns Are Unambiguous Argument. ......................................... 3

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

IV. ARGUMENTS 

A. Rebel Creek Tackle Intentionally Disobeyed a Lawful Order. 

A party to a judicial action is in contempt of court when it disobeys 

any lawful judgment, decree, order, or process of the court. RCW 

7.21.010(l)(b). Here, the Trial Court issued a lawful judgment on June 7, 

2013, ordering that, "SBPI shall have full, unrestricted use of the injection 

molds during the tenn of the License Agreement, and RCT shall cooperate 

in the transfer and/or delivery of said molds as requested by SBPI." CP 65. 

Additionally, the judgment ordered that, "RCTwas enjoined from engaging 

in any activity in competition with or obstruction ofSBPI's rights under the 

License Agreement, and from interfering in any way with SBPI's 

perfonnance of the License Agreement." CP 65. 
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RCT intentionally interfered with SBPI's attempt to enforce the 

Court's order by failing to cooperate in the transfer and/or delivery of the 

injection molds as requested by SBPI. SBPI attempted to have the molds 

transferred to their own facility as early as August 13, 2013, with multiple 

emails and phone calls to RCT's counsel. CP 82-86. When SBPI attempted 

to have the injection molds transferred from PIM directly, they were 

reluctant due to an instruction froln RCT' s counsel not to release the molds. 

CP 84. Specifically, RCT's counsel wrote to SBPI, "I have communicated 

with [PIM]'s counsel and have directed that the molds not be released to 

you." CP 84. This instruction to PIM is a direct interference of SBPI's 

request to have the injection molds transferred and/or delivered to SBPI's 

facility. 

This instruction is contrary to the Trial Court's order in two ways: 

First, this instruction violates the requirement that RCT shall cooperate in 

the transfer and/or delivery of the injection molds. By instructing PIM not 

to release the injection molds, RCT is intentionally disobeying the Court's 

order. Second, this instruction violates SBPI's right to have full, 

unrestricted use of the injection molds. Because RCT willfully and 

intentionally failed to cooperate with the transfer and/or delivery of the 

molds, and because RCT violated SBPI's exclusive right to use the molds, 
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RCT has willfully and intentionally violated a direct lawful order issued by 

Judge Kalama Clark on June 7, 2013. 

ReT clahns a defense that they were protecting [RCT]'s corporate 

property in resisting [SBPI], s demand to take control of [RCT], s plastic 

injection molds. Appellant's Opening Brief/35-36. SBPI never "demanded" 

to take control of the plastic injection molds - the arbitrator's award 

required RCT to transfer and/or deliver the molds. The superior court issued 

an order affirming the arbitration award. Moreover, the case that RCT cites 

in support of this defense, State ex reI. Gardner v. Superior Court for King 

County, 186 Wash. 134, 136-37, 56 P .2d 1315 (1936), does not support their 

claim. This case does not stand for, or imply the proposition that a defendant 

may escape contelnpt sanctions by claiming they are protecting corporate 

property.ld. Rather, it stands for the proposition that if a court does not have 

the jurisdiction to force a transfer of property, contempt proceedings are 

improper.ld. at 140. 

The arbitrator issued a valid award to SBPI, requiring RCT to 

transfer the molds. The superior court judge affirmed the award. At no time 

did RCT formally object to the arbitrator's award or the court's affirmation 

of the award. Rather, RCT continued to willfully and intentionally violate 

the court's order, and contempt was a proper sanction. 
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Finding 

Whether contempt sanctions are warranted in a particular case is a 

matter within the discretion of the trial court. State v. Dugan, 96 Wn. App. 

346, 351, 979 P.2d 885 (1999). A reviewing court will not disturb a trial 

court's contempt ruling absent an abuse of that discretion. Dugan, 96 Wn. 

App. at 351. A trial court abuses its discretion when it exercises it in a 

manifestly unreasonable manner or bases it upon untenable grounds or 

reasons.ld. see also State v. Jordan, 146 Wn. App. 395, 401, 190 P.3d 516 

(2008); State v. Berty, 136 Wn. App. 74, 84, 147 P.3d 1004 (2006). Under 

Washington law, and in this scenario, contempt of court means "intentional 

disobedience of any lawful judgment, decree, order, or process of the court." 

RCW 7.21.010(l)(b). 

The trial court based its finding of contempt in a reasonable manner 

and upon tenable grounds and reasons. The record shows that the Trial 

Court judge asked the necessary questions to determine whether contempt 

was proper in this case: (1) is there a valid judgment? (2) has the judgment 

been violated? (3) and has the judgment been violated intentionally? RCW 

7.21.010.The judge at the Trial Court specifically stated during oral 

argument: 

The issue before us is that there is a valid 
judgment. The question is whether the order 



has been violated, has there been a contempt 
and should there be sanctions? The only issue 
for Ine today, gentlemen, is whether the 
failure of [RCT] to act is willful and 
intentional. If it is, then contempt will be 
found and sanctions will be ordered. That is 
the only issue that needs to be argued today, 
willful and intentional violations. 

RP 17. From the record, it is apparent that the trial judge did not abuse her 

discretion in analyzing whether contempt was proper. The trial judge 

followed the analysis necessary under RCW 7.21.010, heard oral argument, 

read the briefings, and made a finding of contempt in a reasonable manner. 

Therefore, the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding RCT in 

contempt. 

C. Rebel Creek Tackle is Collaterally Barred From Arguing 
the Findings of Fact in the Contempt Order Are Ambiguous. 

RCT attempts to argue that there is an ambiguity in the meaning of 

"transfer and/or delivery," and this ambiguity is the reason behind its' 

intentional disobedience of the Trial Court's order. 

This argulnent fails because RCT is collaterally barred from 

attacking the order. Generally, under the collateral bar rule, a court order 

cannot be collaterally attacked in contempt proceedings arising from its 

violation since a contempt judgment will normally stand even if the order 

violated was erroneous or later ruled invalid. Matter of J.R.H, 83 Wn. App. 

613,615,922 P.2d 206 (1996). 
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RCT had an opportunity to appeal the arbitration award and the 

arbitrator's use the tenns "transfer and/or deliver." RCT failed to do so, 

and its attempt to re-argue this arbitration before this Court is improper and 

disingenuous. Pursuant to Washington's Unifonn Arbitration Act, RCT 

could have moved to modify or vacate the arbitrator's award within ninety 

days of receiving notice of the award. RCW 7.04A.230; RCW 7.04A.240. 

RCT failed to take either of these available actions to appeal the arbitrator's 

decision. 

RCT also had an opportunity to object to the tenns of the Trial 

Court's order affinning the arbitration award, and failed to make any 

objection at that time. After a party to the arbitration proceeding receives 

notice of an award, the party may file a motion with the court for an order 

confinning the award, at which time the court shall issue such an order 

unless the award is modified or corrected. RCW 7.04A.220. Here, RCT 

made no attempt to modify or correct the award at the hearing to affinn the 

arbitration award. During the contempt hearing, the judge notes that RCT's 

failure to object to the arbitrator's choice oftenns in his Arbitration Award, 

stating: "there was no objection [to the use of the words "transfer and/or 

delivery"] when [the judgment to affinn the arbitration award] was 

confinned by order of June 7th
. So it will be interesting to see what develops 

from that." RP 14. RCT did not object to the order affinning the arbitration 
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award, and therefore cannot now attempt to re-argue the issue on appeal, 

after a contempt order has been violated. Additionally, RCT could have 

filed an appeal from the order confirming the award within thirty days of 

the order, but failed to do so. RAP 5.2(a). Even if the order had been 

erroneously issued, RCT still violated the order, and therefore, RCT is 

collaterally barred from making this argument now. It is no defense to a 

charge of contempt that the underlying ruling was erroneous. 15 Karl 

Tegland, Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure § 43:3 (2nd ed. 2009). 

D. In the Alternative, The Terms of the Contempt Order are 
Unambiguous. 

Even if RCT is not collaterally barred froin arguing the meaning of 

"transfer and/or delivery," there was substantial evidence to support the 

Trial Court's finding that the words were unambiguous. Findings of fact are 

reviewed for substantial evidence. In re Marriage of Eklund, 143 Wn. App. 

207,212,177 P.3d 189 (2008). "Transfer and/or delivery," is unambiguous 

for two reasons: 

First, the plain language of the Court's order clearly indicates an 

unambiguous meaning. In a contempt proceeding, a court order will be 

enforced according to the plain meaning of its terms when read in light of 

the issues and purposes surrounding its entry. Johnston v. Benefit 

Management Corp., 96 Wn.2d 708, 713, 638 P.2d 1201 (1982); see also 
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Zink v. City of Mesa, 162 Wn. App. 688, 707, 256 P.3d 384 (2011). In 

Johnston, the attorney for the plaintiffs was held in contempt for violating 

a protective order prohibiting communications with actual or potential class 

members who were not fonnal parties to the action. Johnston, 96 Wn.2d at 

709. The order provided in pertinent part: 

all parties hereto and their counsel are hereby 
forbidden, directly or indirectly, orally or in 
writing, to communicate concerning such 
action with any potential or actual class 
member not a fonnal party to the action 
without consent of and approval of the 
communication by order of the court. 

Johnston, Wn.2d at 709. On appeal, the court ruled that the purpose of the 

order (to prevent potential abuses in the management of the class action) 

did not apply to the attorneys conduct. Id. The attorneys were not 

communicating with class members in violation of this purpose; rather, they 

were merely sending a reminder to class members of the settlement plan 

that was approaching. Id. at 713. Under the surrounding circumstances of 

the case, the plain meaning of the order only included prohibition on 

communication that would be an abuse of the management of the class 

action. Id. at 714. 

Similar to the case at hand, the plain meaning of "transfer and/or 

deliver," under the circumstances of this case, simply means "the passing 

of a thing or of property from one person to another." Black's Law 
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Dictionary (9th ed. 2009), available at Westlaw BLACKS. This definition 

was enforced by the Trial Court, when the judge explained "'the tenn 

'transfer and/or deliver,' as used by the arbitrator and repeated in the 

judgment is not ambiguous. It's plain, simple, common sense meaning is 

that the property is to be placed in the possession of the plaintiff." RP 17. 

Adding any additional meaning such as assignment, or transfer of title, 

would be outside of the plain Ineaning of the order under the circumstances 

of this case. 

Second, the words "transfer and/or delivery" are unambiguous 

based on the record of the proceedings in this case. Extrinsic evidence, such 

as the surrounding circumstances of a case, is adlnissible to clarify the 

meaning ofa tenn. Vacova Co. v. Farrell, 62 Wn. App. 386, 399, 814 P.2d 

255 (1991). In reviewing the record of proceedings, at no point has SBPI 

attempted to take any ownership of the injection molds, or argue that they 

have any rights to ownership of the molds. SBPI has even attempted to 

explain this to RCT, and did explain to the Trial Court that SBPI 

understands they are obtaining no ownership in the molds. RP 18. 

Despite RCT's attempts to cloud the issue, the original decision of 

the arbitrator in this action could not be clearer. The arbitrator was aware 

that RCT and PIM had colluded to breach SBPI's exclusive license to use 

the patents, and thus understood that the molds needed to be transferred to 

17 



SBPI to ensure that this activity would not occur again. RP 242. This 

extrinsic evidence provides substantial support for the conclusion that 

words are unambiguous, as the Trial Court correctly found. 

E. Seth Burrill Productions, Inc. Is Entitled to Attorney's Fees and 
Costs. 

SBPI respectfully requests this court to award costs and attorney 

fees in SBPI's favor pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) and RAP 18.9(a). 

RAP lS.l (a) provides that if applicable law grants to a party the right to 

recover attorney fees or expenses on review before either the Court of 

Appeals or Supreme Court, the party must request the fees or expenses as 

provided in this rule. RAP 18.1(a) see also Yousoufian v. King County 

Executive, 152 Wn.2d 421,439,98 P.3d 463 (2004) (holding that requesting 

attorney's fees and costs on appeal in an opening brief was sufficient for 

RAP IS.1(a) purposes). 

To receive an award of costs and attorney fees on appeal, a party 

must devote a section of its opening brief to the request. RAP IS.1 (b); 

Phillips Bldg. Co. v. An, Sl Wn. App. 696, 700-05, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996). 

"The court rule requires more than a bald request for attorney expenses on 

appeal." Phillips Bldg., Sl Wn. App. at 705. The party seeking costs and 

attorney fees must provide argument and citation to authority to establish 

that such expenses are warranted. Id. 
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Pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RAP 18.9(a), a party can request an award 

of attorney's fees on appeal. An appeal is frivolous (and a recovery of fees 

warranted) "if no debatable issues are presented upon which reasonable 

Ininds might differ, and it is so devoid of Inerit that no reasonable possibility 

of reversal exists." In re Marriage a/Greenlee, 65 Wn. App. 703, 710, 829 

P.2d 1120 (1992) (quoting Chapman v. Perera, 41 Wn. App. 444, 455-56, 

704 P.2d 1224, review denied, 104 Wn.2d 1020 (1985)). See also, 

Harrington v. Pailthorp, 67 Wn. App. 901, 841 P.2d 1258 (2000). In the 

case at bar, the trial judge properly applied the appropriate law in finding 

RCT in contempt. Simply stated, a valid court order existed, and RCT 

willfully and intentionally refused to comply. Further, RCT's attempt to re

argue aspects of the arbitration in this forum as part of its appeal on 

contempt is completely devoid of merit. Moreover, RCT's claim that the 

trial judge inserted words into the Order for Contempt, which were not 

found in the original License Agreement, is disingenuous at best and 

misleads this court at worst. As pointed out, supra, the terms "transfer and/ 

or deliver" were found in the arbitrator's award, not made up and inserted 

by the trial judge. This appeal is frivolous and devoid of merit. 

In addition, courts may find independent basis for awarding attorney 

fees. For example, in Chapman v. Perera, the court found that the party 

responsible for the matter to be litigated in the first place, could have 
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resolved the matter at the very outset of proceedings and avoided the 

court's involvement all together. Chapman, 41 Wn. App. at 455-56. On 

appeal, the court determined that because the party insisted the matter 

proceed through litigation, when it could have been avoided by its own 

action, it granted an award of attorney fees to the prevailing party. Id. 

Likewise, in the present case, if only RCT had obeyed the court's order in 

the first place, an action for contempt would have never needed to be filed. 

RCT had full control of its own compliance with the Court's order and yet 

willfully and intentionally chose to refuse to comply. The action for 

contempt and this appeal could have been avoided entirely if RCT had 

simply obeyed the courts order. 

For these reasons, SBPI should be awarded attorney fees and costs 

incurred due to this meritless appeal. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

An arbitrator awarded SBPI monetary damages and required 

to transfer and/or deliver the plastic injection molds to SBPI. The Trial 

Court affirmed the Arbitration Award and issued its Order. RCT willfully 

and intentionally refused to comply with this valid court order. As such, the 

Court properly found RCT contempt. The Court did not abuse its 

discretion. Therefore, SBPI respectfully requests this Court to affirm the 
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Superior Court's findings that RCT was in Contempt and award attorney's 

has incurred due to this appeal.